
Efficiency and Performance Sub (Finance) 
Committee

Date: FRIDAY, 13 JULY 2018
Time: 1.45 pm
Venue: COMMITTEE ROOMS - WEST WING, GUILDHALL

Members: Jeremy Mayhew (Chairman)
Deputy Jamie Ingham Clark (Deputy Chairman)
Randall Anderson
Alderman Robert Howard
Paul Martinelli
Hugh Morris
Ian Seaton
Deputy Philip Woodhouse

Enquiries: John Cater
tel.no.: 020 7332 1407
john.cater@cityoflondon.gov.uk

Lunch will be served in the Guildhall Club at 1pm
N.B. Part of this meeting could be the subject of audio video recording

John Barradell
Town Clerk and Chief Executive

Public Document Pack



AGENDA

Part 1 - Public Agenda

1. APOLOGIES

2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN RESPECT OF 
ITEMS ON THE AGENDA

3. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING
To agree the public minutes of the meeting held on 23rd May 2018.

For Decision
(Pages 1 - 4)

4. OUTSTANDING ACTIONS FROM PREVIOUS MEETINGS
Report of the Town Clerk.

For Information
(Pages 5 - 6)

5. WORK PROGRAMME FOR FUTURE MEETINGS
Report of the Town Clerk.

For Information
(Pages 7 - 8)

6. ASSET MANAGEMENT - SERVICE BASED REVIEW - INTERIM REPORT
Report of the City Surveyor.

For Information
(Pages 9 - 12)

7. CORPORATE AND BUSINESS PLANNING UPDATE
Report of the Town Clerk

For Information
(Pages 13 - 16)

8. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE SUB-
COMMITTEE

9. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT

10. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC
MOTION - That under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public 
be excluded from the meeting for the following items on the grounds that they involve 
the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part I of Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government Act.

For Decision



3

Part 2 - Non-Public Agenda

11. NON-PUBLIC MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING
To agree the non-public minutes of the meeting held on 23rd May 2018.

For Decision
(Pages 17 - 22)

12. OUTSTANDING ACTIONS FROM NON-PUBLIC MINUTES OF PREVIOUS 
MEETINGS
Report of the Town Clerk.

For Information
(Pages 23 - 24)

13. CONTRACT MANAGEMENT CORPORATE SUPPLIER PERFORMANCE 
SCORECARD RESULTS FY 17/18
Report of the Chamberlain

For Information
(Pages 25 - 34)

14. DEPARTMENTAL MONITORING

For Information
a) Department of the Built Environment (Pages 35 - 46)

Report of the Director of the Built Environment. 

b) The City Surveyor's Department (Pages 47 - 56)

Report of the City Surveyor

15. NON-PUBLIC QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE 
COMMITTEE

16. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT AND 
WHICH THE COMMITTEE AGREE SHOULD BE CONSIDERED WHILST THE 
PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED



This page is intentionally left blank



EFFICIENCY AND PERFORMANCE SUB (FINANCE) COMMITTEE

Wednesday, 23 May 2018 

Draft Minutes of the meeting of the Efficiency and Performance Sub (Finance) 
Committee held at Guildhall, EC2 on Wednesday, 23 May 2018 at 1.45 pm

Present

Members:
Jeremy Mayhew (Chairman)
Randall Anderson
Paul Martinelli
Hugh Morris

Officers:
John Cater - Town Clerk’s Department
Peter Kane - Chamberlain
Caroline Al-Beyerty - Chamberlain's Department
Andrew Carter - Director of Community and Children's Services
Colin Buttery - Director of Open Spaces
Kate Smith - Town Clerk's Department
Tom Conniffe - Town Clerk's Department
Geoff Parnell - Chamberlain's Department
Mark Jarvis - Chamberlain's Department
Gerry Kiefer - Open Spaces Department

1. APOLOGIES 
Apologies were received from Deputy Jamie Ingham Clark, Alderman Robert 
Howard, Ian Seaton and Deputy Philip Woodhouse.

2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN 
RESPECT OF ITEMS ON THE AGENDA 
There were no declarations.

3. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
RESOLVED - That the public minutes of the meeting held on 21st March be 
agreed as an accurate record.

4. OUTSTANDING ACTIONS FROM PREVIOUS MEETINGS 
The Sub-Committee considered a report of the Town Clerk which set out the 
outstanding actions from previous meetings of the Sub-Committee.

RESOLVED – That the Committee notes the report.

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



5. WORK PROGRAMME FOR FUTURE MEETINGS 
The Sub-Committee considered a report of the Town Clerk which set out the 
work plan for future meetings. 

Members agreed that given the City Surveyor and the Director of the Built 
Environment will be bringing Reports to the next meeting of the Sub-Committee 
on 13th July, officers should reschedule the Managing Director of the Barbican 
Centre’s slot for later in 2018. 

RESOLVED – That the Sub-Committee notes the report.

6. CORPORATE AND BUSINESS PLANNING UPDATE 
The Sub-Committee received a Report of the Town Clerk concerning Corporate 
and Business Planning.

Members welcomed the Report, picking up on paragraph 23, they stressed that 
in the absence of information (or when information was incomplete), officers 
should try to avoid delays in driving through changes and “get on with it”; it was 
inevitable that some departments would be slower than others in identifying 
outcome measures and putting processes in place to collect them - those 
departments should not hold back overall progress.  

RESOLVED – that the Sub-Committee notes the Report.

7. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE SUB-
COMMITTEE 
There were no questions.

8. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT 
There were no items of urgent business.

9. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 
RESOLVED - That under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items on the grounds 
that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part I 
of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act.

10. NON-PUBLIC MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
RESOLVED - That the non-public minutes of the meeting held on 21st March 
2018 be agreed as an accurate record.

11. OUTSTANDING ACTIONS FROM NON-PUBLIC MINUTES OF PREVIOUS 
MEETINGS 
The Sub-Committee considered a report of the Town Clerk which set out the 
outstanding non-public actions from previous meetings of the Sub-Committee.

RESOLVED – That the Sub-Committee notes the report.

Page 2



12. EFFICIENCY PLAN UPDATE - CROSS-CUTTING PROGRAMMES 
To note – it was decided that this Report would be taken in the public 
section of the meeting.

The Sub Committee received a Report of the Chamberlain concerning the 
progress of cross -cutting reviews.

The Chairman requested that the City Surveyor return to the Sub-Committee in 
July (the CS previously spoke to Members in November and February), to 
provide an update on the City Surveyor’s departmental SBR savings. The 
Chairman asked whether these savings are at risk bearing mind further recent 
funding requests made by City Surveyors. The Chairman queried which 
financial year these requests were granted i.e. was the baseline for 2017/18 
budget amended or was it for 2018/19? Officers would return to update and 
clarify at the next meeting of the Sub.

The Chairman also asked for an update on the asset management SBR review 
and how this relates to the operational property review and FM. The 
Chamberlain gave a brief summary, but Members were keen to see more 
detail. Officers would return to update Members at the next meeting of the Sub.

RESOLVED – that the Sub-Committee notes the Report.

13. DEPARTMENTAL MONITORING 
To note – due to the availability of the Director of Community and Children’s 
Services, it was decided to take Item 13.1 and 13.2 at the beginning of the 
meeting. 

13.1 Department of Community and Children's Services 
The Sub-Committee received a Report of the Director of Community and 
Children’s Services.
 
13.2 Department of Open Spaces 
The Sub-Committee received a Report of the Director of Open Spaces.

14. NON-PUBLIC QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF 
THE COMMITTEE 
There were several questions. 

15. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT 
AND WHICH THE COMMITTEE AGREE SHOULD BE CONSIDERED 
WHILST THE PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED 
There was no other business.

The meeting ended at 3.45 pm

Chairman

Page 3



Contact Officer: John Cater
tel.no.: 020 7332 1407
john.cater@cityoflondon.gov.uk

Page 4



EFFICIENCY AND PERFORMANCE SUB-COMMITTEE – OUTSTANDING ACTIONS: PUBLIC

Item Date Action Officer 
responsible

To be 
completed/ 

progressed to 
next stage

Progress Update

1. May 
2017

a) Contract Management Corporate 
Supplier Scorecard

b) The Sub Committee to receive reports on 
performance against the high-level 
categories.

c)

Chamberlain July 2018 Initial performance report will be 
submitted to July Sub Committee

2. May 
2018

d) City Surveyor’s departmental SBR 
savings

e) Chairman asked the City Surveyor to 
provide an update on the CSD SBR 
savings. The Chairman asked whether 
these savings are at risk bearing mind 
further recent funding requests made by 
City Surveyors.

f)

City Surveyor July 2018 City Surveyor will be presenting 
to E&P Committee on 13th July

3. March 
2018

g) a final report on the Facilities 
Management review will be produced for 
the Sub-Committee for summer 2018

Geoff 
Parnell/City 
Surveyor

July 2018 The City Surveyor to address key 
points at July meeting of E&P, 
and Members to decide whether 
a further wrap up Report is 
required in September to coincide 
with the final meeting of the 
Facilities Management Board.

P
age 5

A
genda Item

 4



Item Date Action Officer 
responsible

To be 
completed/ 

progressed to 
next stage

Progress Update

4. May 
2018

h) Asset Management SBR Review
i) The Chairman also asked for an update 

on the asset management SBR review 
and how this relates to the operational 
property review and FM. The Chamberlain 
gave a brief summary, but Members were 
keen to see more detail. Officers would 
return to update Members at the next 
meeting of the Sub.

Chamberlain/
City Surveyor

July 2018 Report submitted to July meeting 
of the Sub

P
age 6



Efficiency and Performance Sub-Committee – Work Programme 2018

Meeting: 23/5/18 13/7/18 11/9/18 5/11/18
Continuous Improvement (Efficiency and Sustainability Plan)

Proposed cross-cutting 
review programme

Asset Management Review update

Specific Departmental Focus & Commercial/Income Generation Opportunities
Open Spaces / Community 
& Children's Services

City Surveyors/Built Environment

Contract Management Corporate Supplier 
Scorecard – initial performance report

City of London Police/Comptroller Barbican/ Markets and 
Consumer Protection 

Outcomes and Performance (Benchmarking)
Corporate and Departmental 
Business Planning:

- Corporate Plan 
reporting (for info)

Corporate and Business Planning Update

P
age 7

A
genda Item

 5



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 8



Committee(s) Dated:

Corporate Asset Sub-Committee
Efficiency & Performance Sub-Committee 

11th July 2018
13th July 2018

Subject:
Asset Management – Service Based Review – Interim Report

Public

Report of:
City Surveyor (CS.283/18)
Report author:
Paul Friend, City Surveyor’s Department

For 
Information

Summary

An update report on the City’s cross cutting Asset Management Service Based 
Review was submitted to the Corporate Asset Sub-committee in February and the 
Efficiency and Performance Sub-Committee in March.  That report confirmed that an 
‘Asset Management Review’ was being undertaken using external advisors GVA and 
would report back its findings to this committee in July. 

GVA have completed their review and reported a number of recommendations. 
Whilst officers consider these recommendations and implications for the city, this 
report provides an interim update. The core areas identified for improvement relate 
to committee Governance, Corporate Policies and Controls, Data Management, 
Strategic Asset Planning, Property Management processes, Compliance 
responsibilities and Delivery of major asset related projects. 

The full recommendations with a cost/benefit analysis and a roadmap for 
implementation is now being developed and will follow once the officer review 
process has been completed for this cross-cutting review, namely reports to 
Strategic Resources Group and Summit Group.  

Recommendation(s)

Members are asked to note the progress of the review. 

Main Report

Background

1. The Asset Management component of the Service Based review (SBR) was last 
reported in February 2018. Significant progress has been made to improve the 
operational effectiveness and management of the operational estate; for 
example, ongoing asset specific reviews (e.g. Police Accommodation Project, 
Guildhall/Walbrook Wharf Workplace Workplace Strategy, New Combined Courts 
Facility and Strategic Markets Review), implementation of the Asset Management 
Plans Programme (AMP), the better management of third parties to increase 

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



income/reduce arrears and improved corporate oversight to mitigate risk.  
However, undertaking an ‘Asset Management Diagnostic Review’ provided the 
opportunity to comprehensively review how asset management is undertaken by 
the City and ability under this structure to meet the objectives of the maturing 
approach to asset management across all the operational property portfolio 
required by this committee.

2. Following the appointment of external advisors in February, the review (which 
included data collection/collation exercise, over 20 interviews with senior 
managers and two integrated workshops) has now been completed. The final 
report has been delayed slightly due to the work taking longer than expected due 
to issues with data collection and the scheduling of interviews and workshops. 

Current Position

3. The City currently operates within a largely decentralised model of asset 
management with departments i.e. not the corporate centre, responsible for the 
strategic direction, estate management, income collection and space utilisation of 
operational assets. It is important to clarify that this relates to asset management 
activities, not facilities management which is a separate though related discipline; 
the picture for facilities management is increasingly more centralisation following 
the roll out of BRM2 and the work of the Strategic Asset Management Board.

4. The Asset Management Review confirms current cross cutting arrangements are 
not in line with leading commercial practices and other public bodies, and there is 
low confidence that the efficiency of assets is being maximised, in terms of 
community, service, utilisation, organisation effectiveness and financial benefits.  
This echoes the concerns of this committee for officers to provide a more ‘mature’ 
approach to asset management across the operational estate, specifically in 
terms of Corporate oversight and asset performance measurement, greater 
transparency and risk mitigation, maximising income/utilisation and alignment of 
both corporate and business objectives.

5. The specific areas where change is recommended are as follows: -

a. Governance - there is not a single corporate asset board (delegated to 
neither officers or committee) with a remit to take asset-related decisions 
that balance service and corporate issues. There is a prevailing mindset 
that Departments "own" property rather than occupy the Corporation's 
assets 

b. Financial Sustainability – there is an inability to accurately report on the 
current or future cost (capital and revenue) of operational assets on an 
asset specific or portfolio basis

c. Corporate policies and controls are weak e.g. space standards 
d. Data management is not fit for purpose. Data management is federated, 

and it is difficult to access quickly accurate data required for strategic 
decisions and performance reporting e.g. the cost of occupation 

Page 10



e. Strategic asset planning is in its infancy and under-resourced, given that 
this process is central to realising value and efficiencies from operational 
property assets 

f. Property management processes are duplicated and non-standardised 
across service departments, which indicates inefficiency and additional 
risk e.g. departments manage third party income including rent and service 
charge collection, lease administration, data 

g. Compliance responsibilities and reporting are sometimes ambiguous 
e.g. fire risk assessments which increases the risk of statutory breaches

h. Delivering asset management related projects is not consistent and 
there is a lack of a programme approach to capital investment and 
redeployment of assets, which recognises the linkages across projects. 
There are major opportunities such as the future of Guildhall that could 
deliver significant benefits and be accelerated. 

Proposals

6. Recommendations to address the specific areas where change is proposed as 
above have now been received and after considering the cross cutting and 
financial implications these will be reported to this committee in September.

7. The next report will also include a proposed roadmap for implementation with 
associated resource plan and implications.

Corporate & Strategic Implications

8. The AM component of the SBR is integral to better decision making and overall 
management of the operational portfolio; it aligns with the FM review vision as 
previously reported and as part of the wider SBR efficiency targets.

9. The AM review supports the objectives of the existing Corporate Property Asset 
Management Strategy 2017/18, which will be revised following approval to the 
recommendations and reported back to this committee.

Implications
  
10.Funding for the Asset Management Review was provided by the 

Transformational Fund which has was endorsed by Strategic Resources Group 
and approved Summit Group in January 2018.

11.  Approval to a resource plan to support the recommendations to follow is 
intended to be endorsed by the Strategic Resources Group and approved by 
Summit Group in due course.

Conclusion

12.  The Asset Management review, through a series of data collection/collation, 
interviews and workshops has explored and captured the current operating model 

Page 11



within the operational property portfolio.  Whilst the existing model does deliver 
objectives from the Corporate Plan and departmental business plans, it has 
largely evolved through custom and practice and is not fit for purpose in terms of 
leading practice and financial sustainability or capable of delivering a more 
mature approach to asset management expected by this committee.  A series of 
recommendations and associated implementation programme of further action is 
proposed to be submitted to this committee in September, following internal 
officer approvals.

Appendices – None

Paul Friend
Head of Corporate Asset Management, City Surveyor’s Department

T: 020 7332 1497
E: paul.friend@cityoflondon.gov.uk

Page 12

mailto:paul.friend@cityoflondon.gov.uk


Meeting Date
Efficiency & Performance Sub Committee 13 July 2018
Subject
Corporate and Business Planning Update
Report of
Kate Smith, Head of Corporate Strategy & Performance 

Public

Report Author
Tom Conniffe, Corporate Performance Manager 

For information

Summary

This report a) evaluates the business planning process for the 2018/19 cycle, b) 
outlines the future integration of the business planning and budget setting cycles 
across the City of London Corporation (the City Corporation), and c) provides an 
update on the corporate performance framework. 

Recommendations

Efficiency & Performance Sub Committee is asked to note the:

a) Evaluation of the 2018/19 business planning cycle;
b) Revisions to the business planning process and timeline to facilitate integration of 

the business planning and budget setting cycles in time for the 2020/21 cycle, 
including moving the bulk of business planning activity earlier in the year; and

c) Progress on developing a corporate performance framework for the City 
Corporation.

a) Business Planning

Rationale

1. By integrating the business planning and budget setting cycles across the City 
Corporation, we can obtain a steer on what Members want to prioritise and build 
this into Business Plans before budgets are confirmed.  In turn this will place the 
City Corporation in a position to maximise the benefits conferred by and 
opportunities arising from the adoption of the new Corporate Plan.

2. When taken together with performance information from the emerging corporate 
performance framework and a map of current spending onto Corporate Plan 
outcomes, this will also provide the City Corporation with the mechanism to 
manage performance and resources in a more agile way.

Page 13

Agenda Item 7



The 2018/19 business planning cycle

3. The 2018/19 business planning cycle, which has just drawn to a close, was the 
second cycle in which the high-level summary (aka the “two-pager”) plan was used 
to capture key business planning information.  It was the first in which the suite of 
detailed templates and documents were used, encompassing:

 workforce planning, 
 asset management, 
 IT projects and programmes, 
 an “objectives and KPIs” template that attempts to map the “golden thread” from 

Corporate Plan outcomes (previously departmental ambitions) down to 
objectives and measures, and 

 the Economy, Efficiency and Effectiveness Health Check (EEE Health Check) 
question set, so that departments could produce an assessment in those terms 
of the services and functions for which they are responsible.

4. Taken together, the business planning document and template suite replaced the 
previous and somewhat lengthy business plan document as a way of ensuring the 
burden on departments was as light as necessary to retain as many of the benefits 
of business planning as possible.

5. As part of this process, only high-level summary Business Plans are submitted for 
consideration by Committees, with departments retaining the detailed document 
suite.  For the 2018/19 cycle, high-level summary Plans were considered by 
Committees twice, firstly in draft between October and December and then in final 
versions from February onwards.

6. The Corporate Strategy and Performance Team is currently engaged in an analysis 
of Business Plan contents (both high-level summary and detailed documents) to 
identify any gaps, duplications or potential for collaboration between departments, 
and to highlight improvements to be made in the next cycle.

7. In terms of the detailed documentation, the EEE Health Check methodology, 
presented to E&PSC in March 2018, has now been completed by most 
departments.  This being the first year of their preparation, the quality has varied, 
so stronger guidance and support is being developed to underpin improvements.

8. Efficiency & Performance Sub Committee is responsible for ensuring departments 
are delivering Business Plans economically, efficiently and effectively against 
agreed budgets.  The EEE Health Check spans the entire Business Plan document 
set and so provides an overarching mechanism by which E&PSC can hold Chief 
Officers to account.  Now that this mechanism exists to drive value to for money, 
Chief Officer Peer Reviews will be used to drive collaboration, innovation and agility 
rather than value for money. As such, outputs from the Peer Review will no longer 
be relevant or reported to Efficiency & Performance Sub Committee.

Page 14



b) Integrating Business Planning and budget setting

9. In May 2018, Summit Group approved the existing Business Plan preparation 
timings for the 2019/20 cycle (i.e. where the business planning activity will occur 
during 2018/19), and a move to full integration with budget setting in time for the 
2020/21 cycle.

Figure 1:Timeline of the 2019/20 business planning cycle – July 2018 onwards

10.Upon integration, departments will be expected to start their conversations on 
business priorities for the next financial year earlier in the calendar year, ideally in 
May and June.  This information can then be discussed at the Resource Allocation 
Sub-Committee awaydays and so inform both medium-term financial planning and 
the development of spending priorities.

Figure 2: Timeline of integrated business planning and budget setting from 2020/21 – May 2019 onwards

Page 15



11. In turn, business planners will be able to draft their departmental high-level 
summary Business Plans in time for sign-off by departmental management teams 
before heading to the autumn cycle of Committees for their approval.

12.The bulk of detailed business planning activity will therefore need to move forward 
in the year to accommodate the integration.  Making this change in in 2019/20 will 
enable necessary improvements to the information being provided to be achieved 
and ensure we make an effective transition to the new way of working.

c) Corporate Performance Framework

13.The Corporate Performance Framework currently in development is intended to 
meet a number of business needs: 

 to enable people (including the public) to track the Corporation’s progress in 
delivering the 12 Corporate Plan outcomes; 

 to enable Members and Chief Officers to evaluate and drive delivery and impact 
across the vast range of work being done; and 

 to bring forward data and analysis that will help us identify areas for 
improvement. 

14.To deliver these requirements, an easy-to-use, robust and flexible system is being 
developed that allows data to be viewed and analysed using different lenses, 
produces engaging reports and data dashboards quickly, simply and intuitively and 
which will be as automated as possible (in terms of updating data) to reduce both 
resource requirements and the potential for error. 

15.To meet the first two of these needs, a twin-track approach has been taken to 
development: top-down, using professional judgement to allocate potential impact 
and performance indicators to the Corporate Plan; and bottom-up, reviewing key 
performance indicators being used across departments and identifying which can 
be used. This dual approach enables the incorporation of existing departmental 
work where possible, thus reducing duplication, and will allow the identification of 
a core set that can be used to drive improvement.

16. It is anticipated that a beta version of the Corporate Performance Framework will 
be ready in October 2018.

Appendices

None.

Page 16



Document is Restricted

Page 17

Agenda Item 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 23

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 25

Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 35

Agenda Item 14a
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 47

Agenda Item 14b
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	4 Outstanding Actions from previous meetings
	5 Work Programme for future meetings
	6 Asset Management - Service Based Review - Interim Report
	7 Corporate and Business Planning Update
	11 Non-public minutes of the previous meeting
	12 Outstanding actions from non-public minutes of previous meetings
	13 Contract Management Corporate Supplier Performance Scorecard Results FY 17/18
	14a Department of the Built Environment
	14b The City Surveyor's Department

